S269608

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles Unified School District, Defendant and Petitioner,

V.

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, Respondent,

JANE DOE,
Plaintiff and Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 3, CASE NO. B307389 HON. SHIRLEY K. WATKINS, TRIAL JUDGE LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT, CASE NO. BC659059

REAL PARTY IN INTEREST'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

TAYLOR & RING, LLP

David M. Ring, SBN 151124 Natalie L. Weatherford, SBN 278522 1230 Rosecrans Avenue, Suite 360 Manhattan Beach, California 90266 Telephone: (310) 209-4100

Email: ring@taylorring.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

"Does Government Code section 818, which bars punitive damages against government defendants, preclude recovery under Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1, subdivision (b), which permits an award of up to treble damages after a child is sexually abused as a result of a cover up?"

INTRODUCTION

In light of recent revelations exposing child sexual abuse cover-ups by schools, churches, and other youth organizations, the California Legislature passed Assembly Bill (AB) 218, which significantly amended Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 governing actions for childhood sexual abuse. The bill greatly expanded the statute of limitations for victims of childhood sexual abuse and revived previously time-barred claims. It also set its sights on addressing the recurrent and horrific problem of institutions covering-up prior sexual abuse of children. To combat the "pervasive problem" of institutional cover-ups of child sexual abuse, AB 218 provides recovery of treble damages where a victim can demonstrate that his or her abuse was the result of a cover-up. The issue presented here concerns whether these enhanced damages may be sought against a public entity that engages in a prohibited cover-up.

Despite the fact that the Legislature intended treble damages to achieve non-punitive public policy objectives, that public school districts such as the District here constitute a sizable percentage of caregivers where children are victimized by cover-ups, and that there is absolutely nothing in the text, history or purpose of the AB 218 even hinting that the Legislature intended to *exempt* public entities from the reach of treble damages, the Court of Appeal here concluded that treble damages are solely punitive and thus cannot be pursued against public entities. The Court based this conclusion on Government Code section 818 which precludes application

of laws to public entities that have as their sole purpose punishment. As explained below, the Court erred. The subject Amendment is *not* simply and solely intended to punish defendants and, equally as important, exempting public entities from its reach will subvert the Legislature's intent to end the disturbing pattern of institutional cover-ups.

The facts here present a paradigmatical example of why the Legislature enacted the treble damages Amendment.

During her freshman year at Pearl Magnet High School, when Plaintiff Jane Doe was just *fourteen-years-old*, Daniel Garcia, a special education paraprofessional assigned to assist a special needs student at the school and an employee of the Los Angeles Unified School District ("the District") began to take an interest in her. (Exh. 1 to Writ Petition, at 7.) During the beginning of the 2014-2015 school year, Garcia began grooming Plaintiff for sexual abuse and by November he had engaged in sexual activity with her. (Id. at 8.) The sexual abuse continued throughout the school year and ended in September 2015, when Garcia was transferred out of Pearl Magnet High School. After Plaintiff bravely reported the sexual abuse to her mother, Garcia was arrested in May 2016 and admitted to the abuse. (Id. at 8-9.)

Tragically, and as alleged by Plaintiff, the District *knew* Garcia was a threat to female students and yet engaged in a concerted effort to hide evidence relating to his sexual abuse of minors. (Id. at 7-9.) Prior to the sexual abuse of Plaintiff, the District was aware that Garcia had set his sights on another female student and that he was apparently "dating" the student. (Id.) In response to learning this information, the District did not terminate Garcia but instead *transferred* Garcia to Pearl Magnet High School, where he met and eventually abused Plaintiff. (Id.) The District went so far as to create "a false and misleading iStar Incident Report related to Garcia's sexual abuse" of the prior student to cover up what it knew

about the abuse and to protect itself from having the information go public. (Id.) As a result of this cover-up, Plaintiff was sexually assaulted by Garcia. (Id.)

While the allegations here reveal the very type of cover-up for which treble damages may be awarded, the Court of Appeal held otherwise. According to the Court, because recovery of up to treble damages necessarily results in a victim recovering damages *beyond actual compensation*, such damages are by definition "punitive" and thus barred by Government Code section 818 when asserted against a public entity. The Court's analysis is mistaken.

Pursuant to Government Code section 818, a public entity is immune from liability for punitive damages. While Section 818 precludes imposition of punitive damages against public entities, it was not intended to proscribe all damages with a punitive component; rather, damages which are punitive in nature but also aim to more fully compensate the victim or encourage victims to bring civil actions or otherwise achieve a non-punitive public policy objective are *not* solely punitive and thus fall outside of the ambit of Government Code section 818. (People ex rel. Younger v. Superior Court (1976) 16 Cal.3d 30, 35-36; Kizer v. County of San Mateo (1991) 53 Cal.3d 139, 146; Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transp. Authority v. Superior Court (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 261, 275.) The immunity afforded to public entities under section 818 is therefore "narrow, extending only to damages whose purpose is simply and solely punitive or exemplary." (Los Angeles County Metro., 123 Cal.App.4th at p. 275, citing Kizer, supra, 53 Cal.3d at p. 146 and People ex rel. Younger, 16 Cal.3d at pp. 35-36.)

Thus, a public entity cannot escape civil penalties or damages provisions with a punitive aspect where such remedies serve some non-punitive function and are thus not *solely* punitive. The Legislative history

of AB 218 confirms that the Bill's provision for recovery of treble damages where a cover-up has been established is *not* simply or solely punitive, but rather seeks to incentivize and encourage victims to come forward and report such systemic abuse.

In concluding otherwise, the Court here employed a misguided analysis constrained by the notion that: "Compensation is the essential condition." (Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist. v. Superior Court ("LAUSD") (2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 549, 557.) According to the Court, because recovery of treble damages would result in damages beyond actual compensatory damages, treble damages are necessarily punitive in nature. The Court's analysis is predicated on the mistaken assumption that the only damages recoverable under the Government Claim Act are compensatory damages. However, a victim who has suffered injury at the hands of a public entity may absolutely recover a category of damages that is beyond actual damages, but not punitive damages. Statutory penalties, as well as damage enhancements, have long been recognized as viable against public entities.

Despite the court's sweeping proposition that statutory civil penalties or damage enhancements that result in recovery beyond actual damages are per se punitive damages when alleged against a public entity, nothing in the plain language of the statutes at issue nor this Court's prior interpretations of Section 818 support such a finding. Government Code section 818 does not state that a public entity shall be liable only for compensatory damages, but rather states that a public entity is not liable "for damages awarded under Section 3294 of the Civil Code or other damages imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant." (Gov. Code, § 818.) Thus, a category of damages that is beyond compensatory, but not entirely punitive, does not fall within the narrow immunity afforded by Section 818.

Perhaps most troubling with the Court's opinion is the disregard of the Legislature's intent. "Our primary task 'in interpreting a statute is to determine the Legislature's intent, giving effect to the law's purpose.

[Citation.]." (California Bldg. Indus. Ass'n v. State Water Res. Control Bd. (2018) 4 Cal.5th 1032, 1041.) The Court of Appeal offered short shrift as to whether the Legislature actually intended Government Code section 818 to apply to shield public entities from the reach of treble damages for engaging in a cover-up of sexual abuse as prescribed by Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1(b). Although the Legislature not once mentioned punitive damages in the legislative history of AB 218, nor mentioned Government Code section 818, nor included any indication in the plain language of the statute that treble damages are akin to punitive damages, the Court held that the Legislature impliedly intended to shield public entities from the reach of the newly created treble damages provision by envisioning such damages to be entirely punitive.

Rejecting statements in legislative committee reports expressly stating that the treble damages provision "is clearly needed both to compensate victims" who never should have been victims — and would not have been if past sexual assault had been properly brought to light — and also as an effective deterrent against individuals and entities who have chosen to protect the perpetrators of sexual assault over the victims," as untethered to any non-punitive purpose (LAUSD, at p. 553), the Court further rejected the notion that a civil penalty or damages enhancement in a tort action can fall outside of the reach of Section 818 where it is motivated by a non-punitive public policy objective, such as encouraging victims to bring civil actions. (Id. at pp. 562-563.) "Even if we agreed with plaintiff that the treble damages provision might incentivize victims to file claims for childhood sexual assault, this supposed public policy objective does not remove the enhanced damages provision from section 818's

purview." (*Id.* at p. 566 (emphasis added).) Again, the Court's analysis rests on the flawed premise that a victim can recover only his or her actual compensatory damages under the Government Claims Act.

In any event, and as detailed below, even assuming arguendo that treble damages *must* include a compensatory element to fall outside of the reach of Section 818 (which it does not), the legislative history here supports a finding that by using treble damages as a remedial tool to encourage and incentivize victims to come forward, it also *compensates* a victim of sexual abuse caused by a cover-up for the hardship, pain and grief in coming forward and initiating a lawsuit – harms that would *not otherwise* be recoverable. Threaded throughout the legislative history is the very real difficulty victims face in coming forward and reporting sexual abuse in a lawsuit against the perpetrator and/or third party entity.

As detailed below, separate from the harm caused by the abuse itself, as well as the cover-up, is the hardship and pain in initiating a lawsuit exposing the sexual abuse suffered. Victims often delay filing actions at all because of being ashamed by the abuse, blaming themselves for being a victim, and for fear of not being believed. The victim's embarrassment of having painful incidents of childhood sexual abuse paraded in a lawsuit, coupled with being subjected to invasive cross examination in deposition and at trial, is a cost of coming forward. But that harm is not otherwise recoverable. Trebling the damages available for those victims who have suffered sexual abuse as a result of a cover-up therefore not only encourages victims to come forward but also compensates them for the pain of exposing the abuse and cover-up in a lawsuit. As poignantly noted by

-

¹ Plaintiff understands and accepts the Court of Appeal's finding that the harm suffered by a victim of sexual abuse who learns that the abuse was the result of an institutional cover-up is *already recoverable* under general tort principles. (*LAUSD*, 64 Cal.App.5th at pp. 552, 561.)

the Author of AB 218, "We shouldn't be telling victims their time is up when in reality we need them to come forward to protect the community from future abuse." (Paintiff's Request for Judicial Notice (RJN), at exhibit 3.)

In an analysis of statutory construction, the intent of the legislature cannot be disregarded. Deference to the very spirit and purpose of the law must guide the statutory analysis as it is the role of the courts to effectuate the law as intended by the Legislature. The Legislature's enactment of the treble damages provision was not designed simply or solely to punish a defendant who has engaged in a cover-up of childhood sexual abuse, but also to encourage victims to come forward and report such systemic abuse. Incentivizing victims to come forward helps expose an institution's efforts to cover-up and hide evidence of prior sexual assaults or inappropriate behavior. It is precisely this intention of ending system wide institutional cover-ups of child sexual abuse and protecting against future children from being abused that the treble damages provision was designed to achieve.

In light of the non-punitive objectives that lie at the heart of the treble damages provision, Government Code section 818 does not apply to cloak a public entity defendant with immunity from such damages. The Court's opinion otherwise, insulating public entity defendants from treble damages — which have proven to be a repeated offender of institutional cover-ups —constitutes a devasting blow to the efforts of the Legislature. In the context of childhood sexual abuse, the Legislature has long repudiated the notion that a victim damaged by sexual abuse be *treated differently* simply because the molester worked for a public rather than a private entity — yet that is precisely the result under the Court's interpretation. There is no justification in the plain language of the statute nor its extensive Legislative history to exempt a public entity from the imperative societal goals the treble damages provision was designed to achieve.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

AND PROCEDURAL POSTURE²

During the 2014-2015 school year, Plaintiff was just fourteen-years-old and a freshman at a high school within the District. (*LAUSD*, at pp. 552-553.) At the start of the school year, Daniel Garcia, a special education paraprofessional assigned to assist a special needs student at the school and an employee of the District began to take an interest in her and began grooming Plaintiff for sexual abuse. (*Id.* at p. 553.) By November he had engaged in sexual activity with Plaintiff. (*Id.*) Plaintiff did not disclose the abuse to her parents until March 2016. (*Id.*) Upon learning of the abuse, Plaintiff's parents immediately reported it to law enforcement and in May 2016, Garcia was arrested and charged with criminal offenses stemming from the abuse. (*Id.*)

As alleged, prior to the sexual abuse of Plaintiff, the District *knew* Garcia was a threat to female students and yet engaged in a concerted effort to hide evidence relating to his sexual abuse of minors. (*LAUSD*, at p. 553.)

During the prior school year, in or around February 2014, the District learned that Garcia was involved in a "boyfriend-girlfriend relationship" with a female student, H. M., and that the "relationship" began while Garcia was employed by the District. (*Id.*) In response to learning this information, the District did not terminate Garcia. Instead, the District *transferred* Garcia to a different LAUSD high school, where he met and eventually abused Plaintiff. (*Id.*) The District then created a false

² The facts are primarily derived from the Court of Appeal's opinion (*LAUSD*, *supra*, 64 Cal.App.5th 549) which in turn are taken from the operative complaint (Exhibit 1 to Writ Petition, at 4-20), as is appropriate where the court has by way of a writ petition ordered the trial court to enter an order granting the District's motion to strike the treble damages request. (See *Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966-967.)

incident report related to Garcia's sexual abuse of H. M. As alleged, this was all done by the District in an effort to cover-up Garcia's prior sexual assault of minor female students within the District. (*Id.*)

Even during Garcia's time at Plaintiff's high school while he was abusing her, the District was aware and actively sought to conceal evidence that Garcia was acting sexually inappropriate with other female students. (*LAUSD*, at p. 553.) One student even complained to the administration that Garcia had inappropriately touched her – and yet the District did nothing. (*Id.*) Indeed, Garcia was allowed to remain an employee of the District during the entire 2014-2015 school year. (*Id.*) As alleged by Plaintiff, it was precisely because the District covered up such inappropriate conduct and failed to take appropriate actions against Garcia, that Garcia was able to continue his grooming conduct directed at Plaintiff, and able to repeatedly sexually abuse her. (*LAUSD*, at pp. 552-553.)

The allegations concerning the District's mishandling of the prior complaints of inappropriate sexual conduct against Garcia fostered the very environment upon which Garcia could sexually exploit and abuse Plaintiff.

A. Plaintiff's Civil Action and The Trial Court's Order Denying the District's Motion to Strike.

In April 2017, Plaintiff commenced this action against the District and Garcia. (*LAUSD*, at pp. 552-553.) Plaintiff's operative complaint alleged causes of action against the District for negligent hiring, supervision, and retention of an unfit employee; breach of mandatory duty to report suspected child abuse; negligent failure to warn, train, or educate; and negligent supervision of a minor. (*Id.* at p. 553.) Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1(b), and in light of her detailed allegations of a cover-up of sexual abuse, Plaintiff included a prayer for treble damages. (*Id.* at pp. 552-553.)

The District filed a motion to strike the request for treble damages on the ground they were an improper request for punitive damages and thus precluded by Government Code section 818. (*LAUSD*, at pp. 552-553.) Plaintiff opposed the motion and explained that the immunity afforded to public entities under Section 818 extends only to damages whose purpose is *simply and solely punitive* and, here, treble damages is *not* simply and solely punitive, but rather seeks to more fully compensate victims of institutional cover-ups and encourage victims to come forward in the hopes of unraveling an institution's efforts to cover-up and hide evidence of prior sexual assaults. (*Id.* at pp. 552-553; Exh. 5, at 70-79.)

The trial court denied the District's motion. (*LAUSD*, at p. 554.)

The court explained that the "narrow" immunity of Section 818 applies only to damages whose purpose is simply and solely punitive, and here, "[a]s drafted and put into effect on January 1, 2020, *CCP §340.l makes no reference to punitive damages.*" (*LAUSD*, at pp. 553-554; Exh. 11, at 205.)

The court noted "the statute's legislative history makes no reference to treble damages being a punishment" and rather, "[t]he legislative intent for treble damages was to compensate the victim." (Id.)

B. The Court of Appeal Grants the District's Petition for Writ of Mandate and in a Published Opinion Concludes that Government Code Section 818 Immunizes the District From Treble Damages.

After its motion to strike was denied, the District filed a petition for writ of mandate. (*LAUSD*, at pp. 552, 554.) After issuing an order to show cause, the Court granted the District's petition and directed the trial court to enter an order granting the District's motion to strike the treble damages request. (*Id.* at pp. 554, 567.)

In its May 21, 2021 published opinion, the Court held that the District is "immune from these enhanced damages under section 818." (*Id.*

at p. 567.) Focusing on damages as being either compensatory or punitive, the Court began by noting that under general tort principles a child victim of sexual abuse *may already recover* for the "added psychological trauma" suffered by a victim who learns that the sexual abused they endured was the result of a cover-up by an institution charged with their care. (*Id.* at pp. 552.) "It will no doubt be the case in some horrific instances that the victim of a childhood sexual assault will suffer additional psychological trauma upon learning those charged with his or her care and protection in effect facilitated the assault by aiding its perpetrator in a deliberate cover up of past sexual abuse. However, while the manifestations of this trauma may be largely subjective, damages to compensate for it are by no means unquantifiable, nor are they unavailable to the victim under normal tort damages principles." (*LAUSD*, 64 Cal.App.5th at pp. 552, 561.)³

From there, the Court reasoned that because recovery of treble damages would result in damages *beyond actual compensatory damages*, treble damages are necessarily punitive in nature. (*Id.* at pp. 554-562.)

Compensation is the essential condition. Tort damages that have a compensatory function, although also having a punitive aspect, are not "imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant" (Gov. Code, § 818), and a public entity is liable under the Tort Claims Act for the injuries those damages serve to compensate. (*Kizer*, at pp. 145–147; *Younger, supra*, 16 Cal.3d at pp. 35–36; *State Dept. of Corrections, supra*, 5 Cal.3d at pp. 890–891; *Helfend, supra*, 2 Cal.3d at p. 16.)

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