IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT)	S269608
Defendant and Petitioner,))	Ct.App. B307389
v.))	L.A. Super. Ct.
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY,))	No. BC659059 Hon. Shirley K. Watkins
Respondent,))	
JANE DOE,)	
Plaintiff and Real Party in Interest)))	
)	

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Calvin House (Bar No. 134902) calvin.house@gphlawyers.com Gutierrez, Preciado & House, LLP 3020 E. Colorado Blvd. Pasadena, CA 91107 Tel: 626-449-2300 | Fax: 626-449-2330

Attorneys for Defendant and Petitioner LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

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

ARGUMENT

The issue before the Court is whether Government Code section 818, which bars awarding damages that are primarily punitive against government defendants, precludes recovery under Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1, subdivision (b), which permits an award of up to treble damages after a child is sexually abused because of a cover up. The Court reviews such issues de novo to determine the meaning of the statutes.⁶

I. The Government Claims Act protects public entities from treble damage awards.

Section 818 was enacted as part of the original Tort Claims Act on recommendation of the California Law Revision Commission. The Commission explained that damages imposed to punish a defendant "are inappropriate where a public entity is involved, since they would fall upon the innocent taxpayers."⁷ "[T]he section was intended . . . to limit [the state's] exposure to liability for actual compensatory damages in tort cases"⁸ and "to protect [public entities'] tax-

⁶ Leider v. Lewis (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1121, 1127.

⁷ Salinas v. Souza & McCue Constr. Co. (1967) 66 Cal.2d
217, 228, fn. 1, quoting 4 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1963)
Recommendation Relating to Sovereign Immunity, p. 817. See
also State Department of Corrections v. Workers' Comp. Appeals
Bd. (1971) 5 Cal.3d 885, 887-888 (State Department); City of
Sanger v. Superior Court (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 444, 450;
McAllister v. South Coast Air Quality Management Dist. (1986)
183 Cal.App.3d 653, 660.

⁸ Kizer v. County of San Mateo (1991) 53 Cal.3d 139, 146 (Kizer).

funded revenues from legal judgments in amounts beyond those strictly necessary to recompense the injured party."⁹

This Court has explained that the sort of damages barred by section 818 are in addition to actual damages and beyond the equivalent of harm done,¹⁰ and are awarded at the discretion of the factfinder.¹¹ AB 218's treble damages provision has those characteristics. It authorizes an award "up to" three times the actual damages, leaving the amount to be awarded up to the factfinder.

This Court has already recognized that the purpose of the ban on punitive damages is to protect a public entity's tax revenues from exemplary awards. In deciding that school districts could not be sued under the California False Claims Act, the Court took note of that Act's treble damages provision, and explained that "the purpose behind the statutory ban on punitive damages against public entities [section 818]—to protect their tax-funded revenues from legal judgments in amounts beyond those strictly necessary to recompense the injured party—applies equally here."¹²

This Court has also said that adding treble damages to a compensatory damages award should be considered punitive in other contexts. For example, in *Harris v. Capital Growth*

⁹ Wells, supra, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1196, fn. 20.

¹⁰ State Department, supra, 5 Cal.3d at p. 891.

¹¹ *Kizer*, *supra*, 53 Cal.3d at p. 147.

¹² Wells, supra, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1196, fn. 20.

Investors XIV,¹³ the Court characterized Civil Code section 52's treble damages provision as "an exemplary award . . . [that] reveals a desire to punish intentional and morally offensive conduct." Several federal district courts in California have relied on that statement to hold that section 818 bars treble damage awards under section 52 against public entities.¹⁴ In 2000, Justice Brown noted in a concurring opinion that "[i]n more than 30 instances, the Legislature has provided for double or treble damages as a punishment for wrongful acts."¹⁵ More recently, this Court stated in *Imperial Merchant Services, Inc. v. Hunt*¹⁶ that the treble damages authorized by Civil Code section 1719 "are punitive in nature."

Just last year, the Court stated that enhanced damages remedy in Civil Code section 3346 was intended "to deter the wrongful breach of property lines for the sake of cutting or other direct forms of injury to another's trees, and to encourage

¹³ (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1142, 1172.

¹⁴ Melendez v. City of Mountain View (N.D.Cal. Nov. 17, 2021) 2021 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 222323; Archibald v. County of San Bernardino (C.D.Cal. May 10, 2018) 2018 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 79449; W.V. v. Whittier Union High Sch. Dist. (C.D.Cal. Oct. 20, 2016) 2016 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 196240; Jefferson v. City of Fremont (N.D.Cal. Apr. 30, 2012) 2012 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 60141; M.J. v. Clovis Unified Sch. Dist. (E.D.Cal. Mar. 28, 2007) 2007 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 28761; Doran v. Embassy Suites Hotel (N.D.Cal. Aug. 20, 2002) 2002 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 16116; Botosan v. Fitzhugh (S.D.Cal. 1998) 13 F.Supp.2d 1047, 1052.

¹⁵ Lane v. Hughes Aircraft Co. (2000) 22 Cal.4th 405, 425.
¹⁶ (2009) 47 Cal.4th 381, 394.

property owners to take appropriate steps to determine where the lines fall. ... What's more, *double damages for mistaken trespasses stand out, as the Legislature typically reserves enhanced damages for deterring willful conduct.*"¹⁷

The Courts of Appeal have similarly recognized the punitive nature of treble damages in a variety of contexts:

Fassberg Construction Co. v. Housing Authority of City of Los Angeles¹⁸ held that, because treble damages under the California False Claims Act were "punitive in nature," the plaintiff could not recover both those damages and punitive damages.

Troensegaard v. Silvercrest Industries¹⁹ held that a plaintiff could not recover both treble damages under Civil Code section 1794 and punitive damages under section 3294, because the treble damages themselves were "punitive in nature."

Marshall v. Brown²⁰ held that treble damages for misrepresentation about a former employee under Labor Code section 1054 have a "punitive purpose."

¹⁷ Scholes v. Lambirth Trucking Co. (2020) 8 Cal.5th 1094, 1112 (emphasis added.).

¹⁸ (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 720, 759-760. Accord, *Grupp v. DHL Express (USA), Inc.* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 420, 433 ("the [CFCA] is punitive in nature because it prescribes treble damages and statutory penalties").

¹⁹ (1985) 175 Cal.App.3d 218, 226-227.

²⁰ (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 408, 419.

*Circle Oaks Sales Co. v. Smith*²¹ held that a treble damages award under Business & Professions Code section 10146 was "punitive in nature, imposed as punishment against the defendant, rather than compensation to the plaintiff."

Swall v. Anderson²² held that a treble damages award under Code of Civil Procedure section 733 for cutting or carrying away timber "must be treated as penal and punitive."

Plaintiff's reliance on the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Molzof v. United States* decision to argue that the treble damages provision should not be considered punitive is misplaced.²³ Although this Court sometimes views federal authorities as persuasive on issues of California law, differences in statutory language diminish the weight of such precedents.²⁴ *Molzof* interpreted the statutory prohibition on awards of "punitive damages" against the United States under the Federal Tort Claims Act.²⁵ Congress's invocation of that legal term of art with a widely accepted common-law meaning

²⁴ Commodore Home Systems, Inc. v. Superior Court
(1982) 32 Cal.3d 211, 217 (differences between federal and state law "diminish the weight of the federal precedents").
Accord, State Dept. of Health Services v. Superior Court (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1026, 1040.

²⁵ See 28 U.S.C. § 2674.

²¹ (1971) 16 Cal.App.3d 682, 684-685.

²² (1943) 60 Cal.App.2d 825, 828.

²³ Molzof v. United States (1992) 502 U.S. 301 (Molzof).

required the Court to look to "traditional common-law principles" to determine the scope of the prohibition. Those principles looked to "the enormity of [the tortfeasor's] offence rather than the measure of compensation to the plaintiff."²⁶ In the Supreme Court's view, that left a "gray area" of damages that were not legally considered punitive damages, "but which are for some reason above and beyond ordinary notions of compensation," which a plaintiff could recover against the United States.²⁷

By contrast, section 818 prohibits *all* damages that are imposed "primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant," not just damages that were considered punitive damages at common law. Further, this Court has made clear that section 818 was intended to limit [public entities'] "exposure to liability for *actual compensatory damages* in tort cases,"²⁸ and not just to bar those damages recognized as punitive at common law.

Even if the Court were inclined to look to *Molzof* for guidance in interpreting section 818, the decision does not support awarding treble damages against the LAUSD. *Molzof* was concerned with damages for a decedent's medical expenses and loss of enjoyment of life. There is little question that such damages are intended as compensation for personal injury, and

²⁶ Molzof, supra, 502 U.S. at p. 306.

²⁷ 502 U.S. at p. 308.

²⁸ *Kizer*, *supra*, 53 Cal.3d at p. 146 (emphasis supplied).

that they would be recoverable against a public entity in California.²⁹ By contrast, a "multiplication of damages" remedy based on aggravating circumstances has been held barred as punitive under the *Molzof* standard.³⁰

In other cases more like this one, the United States Supreme Court has recognized the punitive nature of treble damages. For example, it has said that "[t]he very idea of treble damages reveals an intent to punish past, and to deter future, unlawful conduct, not to ameliorate the liability of wrongdoers."³¹ In deciding that a state was not subject to suit under the False Claims Act, the Court noted that the treble damages remedy was inconsistent with an intent to subject states to suit, because it was "essentially punitive in nature."³² In concluding that punitive damages were taxable, the Court

²⁹ See *Pearl v. City of Los Angeles* (2019) 36 Cal.App.5th 475, 492 (approving damage award that included loss of enjoyment of life) and *Acosta v. Southern California Rapid Transit Dist.* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 19, 25-26 (affirming judgment in personal injury case that included medical expenses that had been paid for by insurance).

³⁰ Beller v. United States (D.N.M. 2003) 296 F.Supp.2d 1277, 1279.

³¹ Texas Indus., Inc. v. Radcliff Materials (1981) 451 U.S. 630, 639 (determining that there is no right to contribution under the Clayton Act).

³² Vermont Agency of Natural Res. v. United States ex rel. Stevens (2000) 529 U.S. 765, 784-785.

included the "punitive two-thirds portion of a treble-damage antitrust recovery."³³

In sum, neither California nor federal precedent supports the argument that Plaintiff may recover treble damages against the LAUSD.

II. The Government Claims Act protection is not limited to awards that are simply and solely punitive.

Although Plaintiff claims that section 818 bars only damages that are simply and solely punitive, the scope of the statute is not so narrow. That phrase does not appear in the statute, which specifically bars damages imposed "primarily" for the sake of example and punishment.

The "simply and solely" phrase derives from *People ex rel*. *Younger v. Superior Court*, which involved the application of section 818 to statutory penalties assessed by a government agency for an oil spill.³⁴ *Younger* determined that the plaintiffs were not barred by section 818 in seeking the statutory penalties, because the additional damages were intended to provide compensation to the State for the harm done by an oil spill, and because the law provided that the penalties collected be paid into a fund for cleaning up the water.

³³ Comm'r v. Glenshaw Glass Co. (1955) 348 U.S. 426, 427.

³⁴ People ex rel. Younger v. Superior Court of Alameda County (1976) 16 Cal.3d 30, 38-39 (Younger).

Because *Younger* concerned penalties and not damages, and the statute clearly had a non-punitive purpose, there was no need to hold that section 818 applied only to damages that were simply and solely punitive. Therefore, that phrase should not determine the result in subsequent cases.³⁵ That *Younger*'s limiting phrase does not correctly define the reach of section 818 is further demonstrated by the Court's subsequent application of section 818 to bar a remedy that was only "partially penal."³⁶

There is no support in this Court's decisions for Plaintiff's related argument that the protection of section 818 is "narrow." Although that term appears in *Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority v. Superior Court*,³⁷ the authorities on which that case purported to base its characterization do not say that:

The *Kizer* case did not say that section 818's reach was narrow, but that it "was intended to limit the state's waiver of sovereign immunity and, therefore, to limit its

 $^{^{35}}$ City of San Diego v. Bd. of Trustees of California State Univ. (2015) 61 Cal.4th 945, 958-959 (the statement of a principle not necessary to the decision is dictum that need not be followed).

³⁶ DuBois v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1993) 5 Cal.4th 382, 398.

³⁷ See Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority v. Superior Court (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 261, 275 (MTA).

exposure to liability for actual compensatory damages in tort cases."³⁸

The *Younger* case did not say that section 818's reach was narrow, but that it did not bar remedies that "fulfill legitimate compensatory functions."³⁹

The San Francisco Civil Service Commission case did not say that section 818's reach was narrow, but that the statutory remedy at issue there "fulfills the same compensatory functions as the liability imposed by [the statute that Younger had held not to be primarily punitive]."⁴⁰

The *State Department of Corrections* case did not say that section 818's reach was narrow, but that the increased award at issue there was not designed "primarily to punish the defendant rather than to more adequately compensate the plaintiff"."⁴¹

The *Helfend* case did not say that section 818's reach was narrow, but that the collateral source rule served "several legitimate and fully justified compensatory functions."⁴²

³⁸ *Kizer*, *supra*, 53 Cal.3d at p. 146.

³⁹ Younger, supra, 16 Cal.3d at p. 39.

⁴⁰ San Francisco Civil Service Assn. v. Superior Court
(1976) 16 Cal.3d 46, 51.

⁴¹ State Department, supra, 5 Cal.3d at pp. 890-891.

⁴² Helfend v. Southern California Rapid Transit Dist.
(1970) 2 Cal.3d 1, 13.

The proper inquiry for determining whether section 818 applies was recently discussed in the *X.M. v. Superior Court* case:

We recognize that in *Younger* our Supreme Court upheld the oil spill penalty on the ground the penalty was not "solely" punitive (that is, it also served a "legitimate compensatory function[].") (*Younger, supra*, 16 Cal.3d at p. 37.) But it makes sense, in that context, to ask whether the penalty served any compensatory function because actual damages are not available in civil enforcement actions under the Water Code. But where, as here, the focus is an increased damage provision in a tort action where compensatory damages are available, we think the proper inquiry is the provision's "primary" purpose.⁴³

The Court of Appeal in the present case likewise looked to the "primary purpose" of the treble damages provision to determine whether it was barred by section 818.⁴⁴

As explained below in Section IV, starting at page 26, the primary purpose of AB 218's treble damages provision is to punish those who cover up sex abuse by authorizing damages in addition to compensatory damages at the discretion of the factfinder.

 $^{^{43}}$ X.M. v. Superior Court (2021) 68 Cal.App.5th 1014, 1031, review granted and briefing deferred (Dec. 1, 2021).

⁴⁴ Los Angeles Unified School Dist. v. Superior Court
(2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 549, 567, review granted (Sept. 1, 2021).

- III. The decisions cited by Plaintiff that have declined to apply the Government Claims Act protection are distinguishable from this one.
- A. Some cases were concerned with remedies that were not imposed primarily for punishment.

Because section 818 bars damage awards that serve "primarily" as punishment, damages that assure adequate compensation are outside its scope. That explains the result in several decisions that Plaintiff cites.

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